# Minutes of the meeting of the Development and Regulation Committee, held as an online video conference on Friday, 28 August 2020

### Present:

Cllr C Guglielmi (Chairman)Cllr M MackroryCllr J AldridgeCllr J MoranCllr M GarnettCllr J ReevesCllr D HarrisCllr M SteptoeCllr J JowersCllr M Steptoe

**1. Membership, Apologies, Substitutions and Declarations of Interest** Apologies were received from Cllr B Aspinell and Cllr S Hillier.

There were no declarations of interest.

#### 2. Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 2020 were agreed as a correct record.

**3. Identification of Items Involving Public Speaking** There were none.

#### 4. Millennium Way, Braintree

The Committee considered report DR/24/20 by the Chief Planning Officer.

Members noted the addendum to the agenda, particularly in respect of some changes to the conditions.

Policies relevant to the application were detailed in the report.

Details of consultation and representations received were set out in the report. Members noted that the proposed scheme had been revised to address comments submitted during the first round of consultation.

The Committee noted the key issues:

- Principle of Development and Need/Justification
- Landscape and Visual Impact
- Ecology
- Amenity Impact (Noise, Vibration, Air Quality and Lighting)
- Highways
- Other Issues

Following comments made by Members, it was noted:

- An informative is proposed to remind the applicant of the contents of the consultation response received from Network Rail and the need to ensure that this development does not give rise to any potential issues to the railway line. An Asset Protection Agreement is in the process of being drafted between Essex Highways and Network Rail. It would not be appropriate to add an additional condition as this would duplicate work already underway. Network Rail however, to confirm, had no objection in principle to the development coming forward.
- Although it was acknowledged that there would be some impact on the landscape and ecology, the scheme would help to ease congestion and queuing at the Galleys Corner roundabout.
- The scheme would be part-funded by Essex Highways, Highways England and Braintree District Council. The on-going maintenance of the scheme would transfer to Highways England upon completion.
- There would be no changes to Galleys Corner Roundabout, this scheme would just provide an additional access point from and to the A120 from Millennium Way. Concern was raised that this could be used as a rat-run.
- This scheme had been put forward as a medium-term solution to ease the congestion at the roundabout and would have no impact on the long-term solution of works to the A120 which is a separate project being led by Highways England.

There being no further points raised, the resolution, including the amendments in the Addendum, was proposed and seconded. Following a unanimous vote of nine in favour, it was

# Resolved

That pursuant to Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992, planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiry of five years from the date of this permission. Written notification of the date of commencement shall be sent to the County Planning Authority within 7 days of such commencement.

Reason: To comply with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the details of the application dated 24/05/2019, together with drawings titled 'Location Plan', drawing no. B3553T69-00-033 (Rev C), dated 03/20; 'Site Plan', drawing no. B3553T69-00-020 (Rev D), dated 03/20; 'General Arrangement Drawing', drawing no. B3553T69-01-001 (Rev F), dated 02/20; and in accordance with any non-material amendment(s) as may be subsequently approved in writing by the County Planning Authority, except as varied by the following conditions.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt as to the nature of the development hereby permitted, to ensure development is carried out in accordance with the approved application details, to ensure that the development is carried out with the minimum harm to the local environment and in accordance with policies RLP54 (Transport Assessments), RLP62 (Development Likely to Give Rise to Pollution or the Risk of Pollution), RLP63 (Air Quality), RLP64 (Contaminated Land), RLP65 (External Lighting), RLP69 (Sustainable Drainage), RLP80 (Landscape Features and Habitats), RLP81 (Trees, Woodland Grasslands and Hedgerows), RLP84 (Protected Species) and RLP90 (Layout and Design of Development) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005); policies CS7 (Promoting Accessibility for All), CS8 (Natural Environment and Biodiversity) and CS9 (Built and Historic Environment) of the Braintree District Core Strategy (2011); and policies 1 (Protecting and Enhancing the Natural Environment), 3 (Maintaining the Character and Integrity of the Parish) and 8 (Design, Layout, Scale, Character and Appearance of New Development) of the Cressing Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033.

3. Prior to the removal of any vegetation or trees as identified within the drawings titled 'Trees At Risk Of Removal and Retention Plan Sheet 1 of 2', drawing no. B3553T69-35-013 (Rev A), dated 02/19 and 'Trees At Risk Of Removal and Retention Plan Sheet 2 of 2', drawing no. B3553T69-35-014 (Rev A), dated 02/19, an Arboricultural Method Statement inclusive of proposed timetable for works and a Tree Protection Plan detailing measures proposed to protect retained vegetation and trees, during the construction period, shall be submitted to the County Planning Authority for review and approval in writing. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity, to ensure protection for the existing natural environment and to comply with policies RLP80 (Landscape Features and Habitats), RLP81 (Trees, Woodland Grasslands and Hedgerows), RLP84 (Protected Species) and RLP90 (Layout and Design of Development) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005); policies CS8 (Natural Environment and Biodiversity) and CS9 (Built and Historic Environment) of the Braintree District Core Strategy (2011); and policies 1 (Protecting and Enhancing the Natural Environment), 3 (Maintaining the Character and Integrity of the Parish) and 8 (Design, Layout, Scale, Character and Appearance of New Development) of the Cressing Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033.

4. Prior to the commencement of the main works contract, final design details of the slip roads and a landscape and boundary treatment scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The scheme shall include full details of areas to be planted with species, sizes, spacing, protection and implementation, together with full details of all proposed hard landscaping and fencing. In addition, design and specification details of the slip roads and the retaining walls shall be submitted in elevation and section form. The scheme shall be implemented as approved with planting taking place within the first available planting season (October to March inclusive) following completion of the development hereby permitted or identified phase. For the avoidance of doubt, the scheme to be submitted is expected to broadly follow the design principles and

details contained on the drawings titled 'Preliminary Landscape Design Drawings Sheet 1 of 3', drawing no. B3553T69-35-001 (Rev C), dated 05/19; 'Preliminary Landscape Design Drawings Sheet 2 of 3', drawing no. B3553T69-35-002 (Rev C), dated 05/19; 'Preliminary Landscape Design Drawings Sheet 3 of 3', drawing no. B3553T69-35-003 (Rev C), dated 05/19; 'Landscape Elevations (Wall 2)', drawing no. B3553T69-35-017 (Rev A), dated Mar 20; 'Landscape Elevations (Wall 3)', drawing no. B3553T69-35-018, dated May 19; 'Landscape Elevations (Wall 4)', drawing no. B3553T69-35-019, dated May 19; and 'Landscape Sections', drawing no. B3553T69-016, dated May 19.

Reason: To comply with section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), in the interests of visual amenity and to comply with policies RLP80 (Landscape Features and Habitats), RLP81 (Trees, Woodland Grasslands and Hedgerows), RLP84 (Protected Species) and RLP90 (Layout and Design of Development) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005); policies CS8 (Natural Environment and Biodiversity) and CS9 (Built and Historic Environment) of the Braintree District Core Strategy (2011); and policies 1 (Protecting and Enhancing the Natural Environment), 3 (Maintaining the Character and Integrity of the Parish) and 8 (Design, Layout, Scale, Character and Appearance of New Development) of the Cressing Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033.

5. Any tree or shrub forming part of a landscaping scheme approved in connection with the development that dies, is damaged, diseased or removed within the duration of 5 years during and after the completion of the development shall be replaced during the next available planting season (October to March inclusive) with a tree or shrub to be agreed in advance in writing by the County Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of the amenity of the local area and to comply with policies RLP80 (Landscape Features and Habitats), RLP81 (Trees, Woodland Grasslands and Hedgerows), RLP84 (Protected Species) and RLP90 (Layout and Design of Development) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005); policies CS8 (Natural Environment and Biodiversity) and CS9 (Built and Historic Environment) of the Braintree District Core Strategy (2011); and policies 1 (Protecting and Enhancing the Natural Environment), 3 (Maintaining the Character and Integrity of the Parish) and 8 (Design, Layout, Scale, Character and Appearance of New Development) of the Cressing Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033.

- 6. No development shall take place until a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The LEMP shall include the following:
  - Description and evaluation of features to be managed including but not limited to existing veteran trees;
  - Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management;
  - Aims and objectives of management;
  - Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives;
  - Prescriptions for management actions;
  - Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled forward over a five-year period);

- Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan; and
- Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.

The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity, to ensure appropriate management is undertaken for the soft landscape features, to allow the County Planning Authority to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and to comply with policies RLP80 (Landscape Features and Habitats), RLP81 (Trees, Woodland Grasslands and Hedgerows), RLP84 (Protected Species) and RLP90 (Layout and Design of Development) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005); policies CS8 (Natural Environment and Biodiversity) and CS9 (Built and Historic Environment) of the Braintree District Core Strategy (2011); and policies 1 (Protecting and Enhancing the Natural Environment), 3 (Maintaining the Character and Integrity of the Parish) and 8 (Design, Layout, Scale, Character and Appearance of New Development) of the Cressing Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033.

7. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the biodiversity mitigation measures detailed within Section 5 of the 'Biodiversity Statement & Mitigation Plan', document ref: B3553T69-RP-036, dated 17/07/19. The mitigation measures referred shall be implemented and followed in full during the course of construction.

Reason: To make appropriate provision for conserving and enhancing the natural environment within the approved development, in the interests of biodiversity, to allow the County Planning Authority to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and to comply with policies RLP80 (Landscape Features and Habitats) and RLP84 (Protected Species) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005); policy CS8 (Natural Environment and Biodiversity) of the Braintree District Core Strategy (2011); and policy 1 (Protecting and Enhancing the Natural Environment) of the Cressing Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033.

8. Prior to commencement of the main works contract, and in accordance with the Memorandum of Understanding: Commitment to Off-Site Compensation Habitat, dated 30<sup>th</sup> March, a final version of the Biodiversity Compensation Plan detailing the proposed off-site environmental mitigation for the development shall be submitted to the County Planning Authority for review and approval in writing. The Plan shall include a timetable for the works to take the place, details of funding to support planting and maintenance and at least a five year management schedule. The off-site compensation shall be completed in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To make appropriate provision for conserving and enhancing the natural environment within the approved development, in the interests of biodiversity, to allow the County Planning Authority to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and to comply with policies RLP80 (Landscape Features and Habitats) and RLP84 (Protected Species) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005); policy CS8 (Natural Environment and Biodiversity) of the Braintree District Core Strategy (2011); and policy 1 (Protecting and Enhancing the Natural Environment) of the Cressing Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033.

9. No fixed lighting shall be erected or installed on-site until final details of the location, height, design, luminance, operation and management have been submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. With regard to this, the details to be submitted shall include an overview of the lighting design, the maintenance factor and lighting standard applied together with a justification as why these are considered appropriate, detailed drawings showing the lux levels on the ground, angles of tilt, colour, temperature, dimming capability and the average lux (minimum and uniformity) for all external lighting proposed. Furthermore, a contour plan shall be submitted for the site detailing the likely spill light, from the proposed lighting, in context of the adjacent site levels.

The lighting design/plan shall also consider the impact on light sensitive biodiversity and a) identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their breeding sites and resting places or along important routes used to access key areas of their territory, for example, for foraging; and b) clearly demonstrate that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent the above species using their territory or having access to their breeding sites and resting places.

The lighting shall thereafter be erected, installed and operated in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To minimise the nuisance and disturbances to neighbours (and the surrounding area), in the interests of highway safety, to minimise impact on light sensitive biodiversity and in accordance with policies RLP65 (External Lighting), RLP80 (Landscape Features and Habitats), RLP84 (Protected Species) and RLP90 (Layout and Design of Development) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005); CS8 (Natural Environment and Biodiversity) and CS9 (Built and Historic Environment) of the Braintree District Core Strategy (2011); and policies 1 (Protecting and Enhancing the Natural Environment) and 8 (Design, Layout, Scale, Character and Appearance of New Development) of the Cressing Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033.

10. No development shall take place until a construction schedule has been submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The schedule shall

include details on the proposed phasing or timetabling of the development which in turn will provide clarity and allow for partial or phased discharge of details submitted pursuant to other conditions.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and amenity and to comply with policies RLP62 (Development Likely to Give Rise to Pollution or the Risk of Pollution) and RLP63 (Air Quality) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005).

11. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance) until a Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The CEMP shall seek to confirm location and layout of construction compounds, provide details on proposed hours of working and proposed traffic management for deliveries and contractors. In terms of environmental management, and specifically biodiversity, the plan shall also seek to cover include the following:

a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities;

b) Identification of biodiversity protection zones;

c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements);

d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features;

e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee works;

f) Responsible persons and lines of communication;

g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works or similarly competent person; and the

h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.

The approved CEMP shall be implemented and adhered to throughout the construction period of the development hereby approved.

Reason: In the interests of the environment, amenity and biodiversity, to ensure suitable accountability for mitigation and measures proposed during the construction period and to comply with policy policies RLP62 (Development Likely to Give Rise to Pollution or the Risk of Pollution), RLP63 (Air Quality), RLP80 (Landscape Features and Habitats) and RLP84 (Protected Species) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005); policy CS8 (Natural Environment and Biodiversity) of the Braintree District Core Strategy (2011); and policy 1 (Protecting and Enhancing the Natural Environment) of the Cressing Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033.

12. No development shall take place until a quantitative assessment of construction noise and vibration for the construction phase of the development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The assessment shall be based on the finalised details of the construction programme, including the type and location of plant, machinery, equipment and works. The development shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with any mitigation works proposed as part of the assessment. For the avoidance of doubt,

the requirements of this condition may be incorporated within the CEMP produced to satisfy condition 11.

Reason: In the interests of amenity and to comply with policy RLP62 (Development Likely to Give Rise to Pollution or the Risk of Pollution) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005).

13. No development shall take place until a scheme to minimise dust emissions has been submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of all dust suppression measures, the methods to monitor emissions of dust arising from the development during the construction phase. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved scheme. For the avoidance of doubt, the requirements of this condition may be incorporated within the CEMP produced to satisfy condition 11.

Reason: To reduce the impacts of dust disturbance from the site on the local environment during the construction period in policies RLP62 (Development Likely to Give Rise to Pollution or the Risk of Pollution) and RLP63 (Air Quality) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005).

14. No development shall take place until a scheme to minimise the risk of offsite flooding caused by surface water run-off and groundwater during construction works and prevent pollution has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the County Planning Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details. For the avoidance of doubt, the requirements of this condition may be incorporated within the CEMP produced to satisfy condition 11.

Reason: Construction works may lead to excess water being discharged from the site. If dewatering takes place to allow for construction to take place below groundwater level, this will cause additional water to be discharged. Furthermore, the removal of topsoils, during construction, may limit the ability of the site to intercept rainfall and as such increased runoff rates. A construction surface water run-off management scheme is therefore required to mitigate the risks associated with this part of the development in accordance with policy RLP62 (Development Likely to Give Rise to Pollution or the Risk of Pollution) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005); policy CS8 (Natural Environment and Biodiversity) of the Braintree District Core Strategy (2011); and policy 1 (Protecting and Enhancing the Natural Environment) of the Cressing Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033.

- 15. No development shall take place until an intrusive ground investigation report has been submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The report shall seek to:
  - Confirm the ground and groundwater conditions underlying the scheme, particularly in the areas of the proposed widening of the existing A120 and slip roads and to understand the extent and composition of any made ground, or reworked or imported engineered fill that is present;
  - Undertake soil sampling and chemical analysis of soils for potential contaminants (targeting mainly made ground) to facilitate an assessment of

any potential risks to identified receptors. Therefore, determining the requirement for relevant health, safety and environmental practices during construction works and any other remediation requirements;

- Undertake groundwater sampling and laboratory analysis to establish current groundwater quality beneath the scheme and to assess the potential risk to controlled waters where proposed works on the scheme will intercept groundwater table; and
- Assess site-won materials to determine their suitability for reuse (under the CL:AIRE Definition of Waste: Code of Practice) and disposal routes for unsuitable materials

The development shall be implemented in accordance with findings and recommendation of the approved ground investigation report.

Reason: To ensure that contamination (and contaminated land) is duly considered and does not pose a risk during the development, to safeguard the environment and public and to comply with policy RLP64 (Contaminated Land) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005); policy CS8 (Natural Environment and Biodiversity) of the Braintree District Core Strategy (2011); and policy 1 (Protecting and Enhancing the Natural Environment) of the Cressing Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033.

- 16. No development shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The scheme should include but not be limited to:
  - Verification of the suitability of infiltration of surface water for the development. This should be based on infiltration tests that have been undertaken in accordance with BRE 365 testing procedure and the infiltration testing methods found in chapter 25.3 of The CIRIA SuDS Manual C753.
  - The proposed discharge rates from the slip roads (eastbound and westbound) would not exceed the overall existing discharge rates for the 1 in 1, 1 in 30, and 1 in 100 year return period including a 20% allowance for climate change.
  - Sensitivity analysis for 1 in 100 plus 40% climate change allowance indicating the network capacity to meet the existing discharge rates.
  - Provide sufficient storage to ensure no off site flooding as a result of the development during all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus 20% climate change event. In case of flooding the flow directions and time to clear up the water should be demonstrated.
  - Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.
  - The appropriate level of treatment for all runoff leaving the site shall be provided, in line with Chapter 26 of the CIRIA SuDS Manual C753. It is recommended that a comparative water pollution risk assessment using methods described in HEWRAT and Cira SUDS Manual C753, Chapter 26 Simple Index Approach are conducted to ensure adequate SuDS features are provided in the proposed surface water treatment train.
  - Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage scheme.
  - A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL and ground levels, and location and sizing of any drainage features.

• A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to the approved strategy.

The approved scheme shall subsequently be implemented prior to commissioning and opening.

Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water from the site, to ensure the effective operation of SuDS features over the lifetime of the development, to provide mitigation of any environmental harm which may be caused to the local water environment and to mitigate the risk of surface water flooding and to ensure the proposed development does not result in flood risk elsewhere, in accordance with policies RLP69 (Sustainable Drainage) and RLP90 (Layout and Design of Development) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005); policies CS8 (Natural Environment and Biodiversity) and CS9 (Built and Historic Environment) of the Braintree District Core Strategy (2011); and policies 1 (Protecting and Enhancing the Natural Environment) and 8 (Design, Layout, Scale, Character and Appearance of New Development) of the Cressing Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033.

17. Prior to operational use, details of the agreement under which Highways England will be adopting all elements associated with the surface water drainage system and confirming liability for the maintenance of the slips shall be submitted to the County Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to enable the surface water drainage system to function as intended to ensure mitigation against flood risk in accordance with policies RLP69 (Sustainable Drainage) and RLP90 (Layout and Design of Development) of the Braintree District Local Plan Review (2005); policies CS8 (Natural Environment and Biodiversity) and CS9 (Built and Historic Environment) of the Braintree District Core Strategy (2011); and policies 1 (Protecting and Enhancing the Natural Environment) and 8 (Design, Layout, Scale, Character and Appearance of New Development) of the Cressing Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033.

# Informatives

- 1. The development hereby permitted should not be commissioned until the existing pipes, which form part of the proposed highway drainage network, as identified on the approved design are cleared of blockages and are confirmed to be in good service condition.
- 2. Due reference should be given the information and advice contained within the consultation response received from Network Rail, dated 04/07/2019. In respect of this, it is recommended that contact be directly made with the Asset Protection Team at Network Rail prior to any works commencing on-site (AssetProtectionAnglia@networkrail.co.uk).

#### 5. Dollymans Farm, Rawreth

The Committee considered report DR/25/20 by the Chief Planning Officer.

Members noted the addendum to the agenda, particularly in respect of a potential change to one of the conditions.

Members noted that permission had been resolved to be granted to the application in May 2019, subject to conditions and a legal agreement pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) requiring a financial guarantee to secure the removal of the recycling facility and restoration of the site, as per the approved details, within 10 years of commencement. There was a requirement for this legal agreement to be finalised within six months of the resolution. However, at the November 2019 Development & Regulation committee meeting a six month extension to finalise the legal agreement was agreed; and then at the May 2020 Development & Regulation committee a further three month extension was granted.

The Committee noted the current position and request for a further extension and an additional three months to complete the legal agreement.

There being no further points raised, the resolution, including the amendments in the Addendum, was proposed and seconded. Following a unanimous vote of nine in favour, it was

#### Resolved

That subject to the completion, within three months, of a legal agreement pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) requiring a financial guarantee to secure the removal of the recycling facility and restoration of the site, as per the approved details, within 10 years of commencement;

planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiry of 3 years. Written notification of the date of commencement shall be sent to the Waste Planning Authority within 7 days of such commencement.

<u>Reason</u>: To comply with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans: 'Location Plan', drawing no. M.17.149.D.001, dated April 2018; 'Block Proposals Plan', drawing no. M17.149.D.002, dated April 2018; 'Initial Works', drawing no. M.17.149.D.004, dated April 2018; 'Phase 1 Restoration', drawing no. M.17.149.D.005, dated April 2018; 'Phase 2 Restoration', drawing no. M.17.149.D.006, dated April 2018; 'Phase 3 Restoration', drawing no. M.17.149.D.007, dated April 2018; 'Final Restoration', drawing no. M.17.149.D.007, dated April 2018; 'Final Restoration', drawing no. M.17.149.D.007, dated April 2018; 'Final Restoration', drawing no. M.17.149.D.007, dated April 2018; 'Goncept Restoration', drawing no. M.17.149.D.008, dated April 2018; 'Concept Restoration', drawing no. M.17.149.D.009, dated April 2018; and 'Restoration Sections', drawing no. M.17.149.D.010, dated April 2018; and in accordance with any non-material

amendment(s) as may be subsequently approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority, except as varied by the following conditions:

<u>Reason</u>: For the avoidance of doubt as to the nature of the development hereby permitted, to ensure that the development is carried out with the minimum harm to the local environment and to comply with policies S5 and S12 of the Essex Minerals Local Plan (2014); policies 1, 3, 6, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies GB1, ENV1, ENV3, EN4, ENV5, T1 and T2 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM5, DM25, DM26, DM27, DM28, DM29 and DM31 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS GB1, BAS C1, BAS C5, BAS C13 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies SD1, SD4, T1, T2, T3, T6, T7, H12, DES1, GB1, GB2, GB3, GB11, CC1, CC2, CC4, NE4, NE5, NE6, HE1, HE3 and HE4 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

3. The development hereby permitted shall be limited to a period of 10 years, from the notified date of commencement, by which time the site shall be restored in accordance with the approved restoration scheme.

<u>Reason</u>: To ensure development is carried out in accordance with submitted details, to minimise the duration of disturbance from the development hereby permitted and to comply with policies 3, 6, 9, 10 and 13 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies GB1 and ENV1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM25, DM26 and DM27 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS GB1, BAS C1, BAS C5, BAS C13 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies GB1, GB2, GB3, GB11, NE4, NE5, NE6, HE1 and HE3 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

4. Any building, plant, machinery, foundation, hardstanding, roadway, structure, plant or machinery constructed, installed and/or used in connection with the development hereby permitted shall be removed from the site when no longer required for the purpose for which built, erected or installed. In any case this shall not be later than 10 years from the notified date of commencement, by which time the land shall have been restored in accordance with the approved restoration scheme.

<u>Reason</u>: For the avoidance of doubt as to the nature of the development hereby permitted, to enable the Waste Planning Authority to adequately control the development and to ensure restoration of the site within the approved timescale and to comply with policies 3, 6, 9, 10 and 13 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies GB1 and ENV1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM25, DM26 and DM27 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS GB1, BAS C1, BAS C5, BAS C13 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies GB1, GB2, GB3, GB11, NE4, NE5, NE6, HE1 and HE3 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018). 5. Except in emergencies (which shall be notified to the Waste Planning Authority as soon as practicable) the development hereby permitted shall only be carried out during the following times:

07:00 to 18:00 hours Monday to Friday 07:00 to 13:00 hours Saturday

and at no other times or on Sundays, Bank and/or Public Holidays

<u>Reason</u>: In the interests of limiting the effects on local amenity and to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy DM1 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policy BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policy NE6 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

6. The total number of heavy goods vehicle movements\* associated with operations undertaken from the site shall not exceed the following limits:

60 movements (30 in and 30 out) per day (Monday to Friday); and 30 movements (15 in and 15 out) per day (Saturdays)

No movements shall take place outside the hours of operation authorised by this planning permission.

\* For the avoidance of doubt a heavy goods vehicle shall have a gross vehicle weight of 7.5 tonnes or more

<u>Reason</u>: In the interests of highway safety, safeguarding local amenity and to comply with policies 10 and 12 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies T1 and T2 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM29 and DM31 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policy BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies T1, T6, T7, and NE6 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

7. A written record shall be maintained at the site office of all movements in and out of the site by heavy goods vehicles; such records shall contain the vehicle registration number and the time and date of the movement and shall be made available for inspection by the Waste Planning Authority within seven days of written request.

<u>Reason</u>: To allow the Waste Planning Authority to adequately monitor activity at the site and to ensure compliance with permitted levels of intensity and to comply with policies 10 and 12 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies T1 and T2 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM29 and DM31 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policy BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies T1, T6, T7, and NE6 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018). 8. All vehicle access and egress to and from the site shall be from Doublegate Lane, and the access road, as shown on drawing titled 'Block Proposals Plan', drawing no. M17.149.D.002, dated April 2018. No importation shall nevertheless take place until details of a scheme of signage; driver instruction sheet and enforcement protocol has been submitted to the Waste Planning Authority for approval in writing in respect of vehicle routeing to the site. The aforementioned shall seek to ensure no vehicular traffic arrives from and/or departs towards the A127 (Southend Road) and that vehicular traffic is proactively being directed to arrive and depart the site via the A1245 and not A129 unless specifically coming from or making a delivering to the Shotgate, Wickford or Runwell area.

<u>Reason</u>: In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policies 10 and 12 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies T1 and T2 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM29 and DM31 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policy BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies T1, T6, T7, and NE6 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

9. No commercial vehicle shall leave the site unless its wheels and underside chassis have been cleaned to prevent materials, including mud and debris, being deposited on the public highway.

<u>Reason</u>: In the interests of highway safety, safeguarding local amenity and to comply with policies 10 and 12 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies T1 and T2 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1 and DM31 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policy BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies T1, T6, T7, and NE6 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

10. Only non-contaminated, non-hazardous inert material, which has been detailed and defined within of the approved application details, shall be imported to the site for the purposes of recycling/processing, land raising and restoration.

<u>Reason</u>: To ensure appropriate restoration of the site, that there are no adverse impacts on the local amenity from the development not assessed as part of the application details and to comply with policies 1, 3, 6, 9, 10 and 13 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy ENV1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM26, DM27 and DM28 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS C1, BAS C13 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies GB11, NE4, NE5 and NE6 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

 The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken on a phased basis, as indicated on the submitted drawing titled 'Block Proposals Plan', drawing no. M17.149.D.002, dated April 2018. Operations shall commence in phase one and progress in numerical order. <u>Reason</u>: In the interests of ensuring a phased restoration, local amenity and to comply with policies 3, 6, 9, 10 and 13 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies GB1 and ENV1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM26, DM27 and DM28 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAG GB1, BAS C1, BAS C13 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies GB1, GB3, GB11, NE4, NE5, NE6 and HE1 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

12. Following notified commencement of the development, every six months a progress report shall be submitted to the Waste Planning Authority for review and comment. The report shall detail how much material has been imported to the site (over the preceding six months) together with a breakdown of how much material has subsequently been exported. For every alternate submission (so annually) and upon completion/restoration of each phase (1-4 inclusive), a land level survey shall also be submitted to evidence progress/achievement of phased restoration. In addition to the land level survey a short statement on progress and operations to be undertaken/completed within the forthcoming 12 month period shall be submitted.

<u>Reason</u>: In the interests of ensuring a phased restoration, local amenity and to comply with policies 3, 6, 9, 10 and 13 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies GB1 and ENV1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM26, DM27 and DM28 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAG GB1, BAS C1, BAS C13 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies GB1, GB3, GB11, NE4, NE5, NE6 and HE1 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

13. In the event of a cessation of operations hereby permitted for a period in excess of 12 months, prior to the achievement of the completion of the approved scheme, which in the opinion of the Waste Planning Authority constitutes a permanent cessation within the terms of paragraph 3 of Schedule 9 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a revised scheme of restoration and aftercare shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. Within six months of the 12 month period of cessation of operations the revised scheme of restoration and aftercare shall be submitted to the Waste Planning Authority. Within six months of the 12 month period of cessation of operations the revised scheme of restoration and aftercare shall be submitted to the Waste Planning Authority for approval in writing. The development shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the revised scheme of restoration and aftercare.

<u>Reason</u>: To secure a satisfactory alternate restoration of the site in the event of a cessation of operations, in the interest of local amenity and the environment and to comply with policies 6, 10 and 13 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies GB1 and ENV1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM26, DM27 and DM28 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAG GB1, BAS C1, BAS C13 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies GB1, GB3, GB11, NE4, NE5, NE6 and HE1 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

14. The Free Field Equivalent Continuous Noise Level (LAeq, 1 hr) at the below noise sensitive properties/locations shall not exceed the following limits:

East of Cottages, Doublegate Lane: 55dB LAeq, 1hr West of Dollymans Farm: 55dB LAeq, 1hr Wethersfield Way, Wickford: 55dB LAeq, 1hr Bersheda, north of A127: 55dB LAeq, 1hr Electricity sub-station entrance, A129: 55dB LAeq, 1hr

<u>Reason</u>: In the interests of amenity and to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy DM1 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policy BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policy NE6 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

15. For temporary operations, the Free Field Equivalent Continuous Noise Level (LAeq, 1 hr) at noise sensitive properties/locations referred in condition 14 shall not exceed 70dB LAeq 1hr. Temporary operations shall not exceed a total of eight weeks in any continuous duration 12 month duration. Five days written notice shall be given to the Waste Planning Authority in advance of the commencement of a temporary operation.

<u>Reason</u>: In the interests of amenity and to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy DM1 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policy BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policy NE6 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

16. Noise levels shall be monitored at six monthly intervals from the date of the commencement of development at the five location points referred in conditions 14 and 15 and shown in Appendix B 1 (Site Location and Baseline Survey Locations) of the Noise Assessment, undertaken by WBM Acoustic Consultants, dated 29/08/2018. The results of the monitoring shall include LA90 and LAeg noise levels, the prevailing weather conditions, details and calibration of the equipment used for measurement and comments on other sources of noise which affect the noise climate. The monitoring shall be carried out for at least 2 separate durations of 30 minutes separated by at least 1 hour during the working day and the results shall be submitted to the Waste Planning Authority within one month of the monitoring being carried out. Should an exceedance in the maximum noise limits secured by condition be noted, appropriate justification/commentary and/or a scheme of additional mitigation shall be presented to the Waste Planning Authority for review and approval in writing, as appropriate. The frequency of monitoring shall not be reduced unless otherwise approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority.

<u>Reason</u>: In the interests of amenity and to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy DM1 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policy BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policy NE6 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018). 17. No development or preliminary groundworks shall take place until a written scheme and programme of archaeological investigation, remediation (as appropriate) and recording has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. Should a remediation strategy be deemed required following the investigation (i.e. the need to preserve in situ) such a scheme together with updated working plans shall be submitted to the Waste Planning Authority for consideration and approval in writing prior to further development or preliminary groundworks taking place.

<u>Reason</u>: To ensure that any archaeological interest on-site has been adequately investigated, preserved and/or recorded prior to the development taking place and to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy ENV1of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policy DM1 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); and policies HE1 and HE4 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

- 18. No development shall take place until a Construction Method and Initial Development Specification Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The Statement and Plan shall provide for:
  - The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors during initial site set up;
  - Areas proposed for the initial loading and unloading of plant and materials;
  - A scheme to minimise the risk of offsite flooding caused by surface water runoff and groundwater during operations;
  - The proposed construction of the access road to the site from Doublegate Lane;
  - The exact location and specification of the wheel and underbody vehicle washing facilities proposed;
  - The exact location and specification of the weighbridge, office; parking area and gating/fencing proposed on/adjacent to the access road;
  - Safeguarding measures with regard to works immediately adjacent to the Kynoch WWI memorial (along the southern boundary of the site) including but not limited to protection measures and working practices proposed; and
  - Statement of consideration of operational development issues raised within Network Rail's consultation response, dated 08/10/2018

That submitted, in respect of the access road, shall include details of construction; design (width, finish/surface and details of a bridge over Chichester Hall Brook watercourse); and any additional features proposed in respect of surface water run-off. The development shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the details approved.

<u>Reason</u>: For the avoidance of doubt as to the specification of the initial works proposed, to ensure appropriate management of the start-up phase of the development, in the interests of highway and site safety, ecology and amenity and to comply with policies 3, 6, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies GB1, ENV1, ENV3, EN4, and T1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM25, DM26, DM27, DM28 and DM31 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS GB1, BAS C1, BAS C5, BAS C13 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies T1, T6, T7, H12, GB1, GB3, GB11, CC2, CC4, NE4, NE5, NE6, HE1 and HE3 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

19. No development shall take place until a scheme of landscape and visual mitigation for the site access, weighbridge, office and parking has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The scheme shall include the formation of temporary bunding in addition to advanced planting and furthermore detail proposed management and maintenance during operations. The development shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the details approved.

<u>Reason</u>: On the basis that it is considered that additional mitigation could be provided to further offset impact, in the interest of visual amenity and to comply with policies 3, 6, 9, 10 and 13 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies GB1 and ENV1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM and, DM26 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS GB1 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies GB1, GB3, NE5 and NE6 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

20. No development shall take place until an Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan for trees to be retained has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The scheme shall be based on that suggested within the submitted 'Arboricultural Impact Assessment' but provide exact protection and working details/practices (including the 15m stand-off to the hedgerow) and the protection of the ground and watercourse below the access route. The method statement shall include measures to ensure that all removed timber, hedgerow arisings is utilised for habitat creation, such as habitat heaps, piles or log stacks. The approved details shall be implemented and maintained during the life of the development permitted.

<u>Reason</u>: To ensure that retained trees are protected from damage, in the interests of visual amenity and to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy ENV1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM25, DM26 and DM27 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS C1, BAS C5 and, BAS C13 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies NE4 and NE5 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

21. No removal of hedgerows, trees or shrubs shall take place between 1st March and 31st August inclusive, unless a competent ecologist has undertaken an ecological assessment to confirm that no birds would be harmed and/or appropriate measures are in place to protect nesting bird interest on site.

<u>Reason</u>: To make appropriate provision for conserving and enhancing the natural environment within the approved development, in the interests of biodiversity and to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy ENV1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM25, DM26 and DM27 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS C1, BAS C5 and, BAS C13 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies NE4 and NE5 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

22. No development shall take place, other than the construction of the haul route/access road, until a Public Rights of Way signage scheme for highway users has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The scheme shall provide drivers and pedestrians/users of the Public Right of Way network with signage from the start of the access road and repeated at all crossings/junctions. The signage shall be clear as to both the hazard and the right of the users. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved scheme with signs erected and maintained for the duration of the development hereby permitted.

<u>Reason</u>: In the interest of the safety of all users of both the Right of Way and the haul road and to comply with policies 10 and 12 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy T1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policy DM31 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); and policies T1, T3, T6 and T7 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

- 23. No development shall take place until:
  - a) A revised scheme showing the plant area at existing or a lower land level, rather than 12 AOD and, and/or bunded on its eastern and southern boundaries has been submitted to the Waste Planning Authority for review. The scheme submitted shall be considered deliverable by the applicant and if elements referenced above are not considered so appropriate commentary provided; and
  - b) A detailed layout plan for the proposed plant site as detailed on 'Initial Works', drawing no. M.17.149.D.004, dated April 2018 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority.

Should in the view of the Waste Planning Authority, the revised proposals for the plant area be considered an improvement, the development shall be implemented as such. If not, the existing details as indicated on drawing 'Block Proposals Plan', drawing no. M17.149.D.002, dated April 2018 shall remain approved. In both scenarios, details submitted and approved pursuant to part b) which shall show the exact layout of plant and machinery (together with specification); and location and maximum heights for stockpiles shall be maintained for the duration of the development hereby permitted. For the sake of completeness, no materials shall be stockpiled on-site unless within the plant site as indicated on drawing 'Block Proposals Plan', drawing no. M17.149.D.002, dated April 2018.

# <u>Reason</u>: On the basis that it is considered that amendments to the proposed ground level of the plant site and, and/or the provision of bunding could further

offset impact, for the avoidance of doubt as to the layout and machinery/plant approved to be used, in the interests of amenity and to comply with policies 3, 6, 9, 10 and 13 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies GB1 and ENV1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1 and DM26 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS GB1 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies GB1, GB3, GB11, NE5 and NE6 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

24. No fixed lighting shall be erected or installed on-site until details of the location, height, design, luminance and operation have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. That submitted shall include an overview of the lighting design including the maintenance factor and lighting standard applied together with a justification as why these are considered appropriate. The details submitted shall include a lighting drawing showing the lux levels on the ground, angles of tilt and the average lux (minimum and uniformity) for all external lighting proposed. Furthermore, a contour plan shall be submitted for the site detailing the likely spill light, from the proposed lighting, in context of the adjacent site levels and proposed hours of operation. The details shall ensure the lighting is designed to minimise the potential nuisance of light spill to adjacent properties, highways and/or any features/habitat of ecological interest/value. The lighting shall thereafter be erected, installed and operated in accordance with the approved details.

<u>Reason</u>: To minimise nuisance and disturbance to the surrounding area and environment and to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy ENV1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM5 and DM27 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS C1 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies NE4 and NE6 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

25. No development shall take place until a scheme to minimise dust emissions has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The dust management plan shall include details of all dust suppression measures and the methods to monitor emissions of dust arising from the development. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved scheme with the approved dust suppression measures being retained and maintained in a fully functional condition for the duration of the development hereby permitted.

<u>Reason</u>: To reduce the potential for dust disturbance from the site on the local environment and to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy ENV5 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policy DM29 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policy BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policy NE6 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018). 26. No material/waste shall be accepted or deposited until details of the proposed base level on which landfilling will occur has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The details submitted shall be based on the land levels shown on drawing 'Current Situation', drawing no. M17.149.D.003, dated April 2018 existing, but include/make allowances for any proposed prior stripping of soil and/or any provision for side and basal liners for the landfill area, as may be required or proposed. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved scheme.

<u>Reason</u>: To ensure that that the development does not give rise to undue groundwater impacts, in the interests of safe working and to comply with policies *9*, 10 and 13 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017).

- 27. No stripping or handling of material/waste shall take place until a scheme of machine and material movements for the stripping of the existing restoration surface (if proposed) and infill has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The scheme shall:
  - a) Be submitted at least three months prior to the expected commencement of soil stripping (if proposed) and detail how imported materials will be handled, maintained and engineered;
  - b) The proposed specification of the infill/restoration profile (i.e. an engineering report with detailed cross sections showing proposed make-up or construction to the restoration surface including depth of top soil finish) which demonstrates that material deposited will bond and not give rise to structural problems and/or excessive water retention;
  - c) The type or machinery to be used to strip the site and place infill material; and
  - d) Confirm that soil will only be stripped, handled and/or placed when in a dry and friable condition\*; and that no area of the site traversed by heavy goods vehicles of machinery (except for the purpose of stripping that part or stacking of topsoil in that part) unless all available topsoil and/or subsoil has been stripped from that part of the site.

The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved scheme.

\* The criteria for determining whether soils are dry and friable involves an assessment based on the soil's wetness and lower plastic limit. This assessment shall be made by attempting to roll a ball of soil into a thread on the surface of a clean glazed tile using light pressure from the flat of the hand. If a thread of 15cm in length and less than 3mm in diameter can be formed, soil moving should not take place until the soil has dried out. If the soil crumbles before a thread of the aforementioned dimensions can be made, then the soil is dry enough to be moved.

<u>Reason</u>: To ensure the re-use of the existing restoration layer, if considered appropriate, to minimise structural damage and compaction of soil to aid final restoration works, in the interests of amenity and to comply with policy policies 9, 10 and 13 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies ENV1 and ENV3 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM25, DM26 and DM27 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS C5 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies GB11, CC2, CC4, NE4 and NE5 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

28. No development shall take place until a revised hard and soft landscaping and boundary treatment plan/scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of all existing trees and vegetation together with areas to be planted, in addition to those shown on the existing 'Concept Restoration', drawing no. M.17.149.D.009, dated April 2018 with species, sizes, spacing, protection and programme of implementation. The scheme shall be implemented within the first available planting season (October to March inclusive) on the basis of the approved programme of implementation.

<u>Reason</u>: To comply with section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), to improve the appearance of the site, in the interest of visual amenity and to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy ENV1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM25, DM26 and DM27 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS C1, BAS C5, BAS C13 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies NE4, NE5, HE1 and HE3 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

29. Any tree or shrub forming part of a landscaping scheme approved in connection with the development that dies, is damaged, diseased or removed within the duration of 5 years during and after the completion of the development shall be replaced during the next available planting season (October to March inclusive) with a tree(s) or shrub(s) to be agreed in advance in writing by the Waste Planning Authority.

<u>Reason</u>: In order to maintain the appearance of the site, in the interest of visual amenity and to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy ENV1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM25, DM26 and DM27 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS C1, BAS C5, BAS C13 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies NE4, NE5, HE1 and HE3 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

30. No development shall take place until a revised restoration plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The restoration plan shall seek to detail final land levels both pre and post settlement; provide detailed drawings (including cross sections) of all water bodies proposed to be retained for ecological benefit and be updated to reflect any changes made to drainage features and landscaping, as secured by other conditions attached to this decision notice. The plan shall furthermore be amended to reflect the removal of the access track to the site from Doublegate Lane and the subsequent restoration of this land. The development shall be undertaken and the site restored in accordance with the approved revised restoration plan. <u>Reason</u>: For the avoidance of doubt as to the restoration levels proposed, in the interests of landscape and visual amenity and to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies ENV1, ENV3 and ENV4 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM25, DM26, DM27 and DM28 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS C1, BAS C5, BAS C13 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies GB11, CC2, CC4, NE4, NE5, HE1 and HE3 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

31. All stones and other materials in excess of 100mm in any dimension shall be picked and removed from the final restored surface of the site, prior to the commencement of the aftercare period.

<u>Reason</u>: To ensure the restored land is agriculturally versatile, agricultural operations are not impeded and to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy DM1 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); and policy GB11 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

- 32. No development shall take place until a surface water drainage scheme, management and maintenance plan for the development (site) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The scheme shall be based on that suggested within the submitted 'Hydrological & Hydrogeological Risk Assessment' and shown on drawing 'Concept Restoration', drawing no. M.17.149.D.009, dated April 2018, but not be limited to:
  - Verification of the suitability of infiltration of surface water for the development. This should be based on infiltration tests that have been undertaken in accordance with BRE 365 testing procedure.
  - If infiltration is proven to be unviable then discharge rates are to be limited to 45.611/s for all storm events up to an including the 1 in 100-year rate plus 40% allowance for climate change.
  - Provide sufficient storage to ensure no off site flooding as a result of the development during all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change event.
  - Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.
  - Demonstration that storage can half empty within 24 hours wherever possible. If the storage required to achieve a restricted runoff rate is considered to make the development unviable, a longer half emptying time may be acceptable. An assessment of the performance of the system and the consequences of consecutive rainfall events occurring should be provided. Subject to agreement, ensuring the drain down in 24 hours provides room for a subsequent 1 in 10-year event may be considered acceptable.
  - A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, ground levels and location and sizing of any drainage features.
  - Detailed engineering drawings (including cross sections) of each component of the drainage scheme.
  - Maintenance arrangements including responsibility for different elements of the surface water drainage system, activities/frequencies proposed and details of recording (yearly logs) for work undertaken. The plan shall furthermore

confirm that all pipes within the extent of the site, which will be used to convey surface water, shall be initially inspected, cleared of any blockage and in fully working order.

• A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting changes made from that suggested at the application stage.

The scheme and plans shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

<u>Reason</u>: To ensure that that the development does not give rise to flood risk, ensure the effective operation and maintenance of drainage features and to comply with policies 10 and 11 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies ENV3 and EN4 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policy DM28 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); and policies CC1, CC2 and of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

- 33. No development shall take place (including groundworks or site clearance) until a Farmland Bird Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. This must be provided after the results of a breeding bird survey undertaken following the British Trust of Ornithology Guidelines. The content of the method statement shall include the following if mitigation measures are required to offset impacts to Farmland Birds:
  - a) purpose and objectives for the proposed works;
  - b) detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) necessary to achieve stated objectives;
  - c) extent and location of proposed works shown on appropriate scale maps and plans;
  - d) timetable for implementation, demonstrating that works are aligned with the proposed phasing of construction;
  - e) persons responsible for implementing the works; and
  - f) initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant);

Specifically, a Skylark Mitigation Strategy shall also be included as part of the Farmland Bird Method Statement submitted pursuant to this condition. This shall include provision for the evidenced number of Skylark nest plots, in nearby agricultural land, prior to commencement. The Skylark Mitigation Strategy shall seek to cover a 10 year period and include the following:

- a) purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed Skylark nest plots;
- b) detailed methodology for the Skylark nest plots following Agri-Environment Scheme option: 'AB4 Skylark Plots';
- c) locations of the Skylark plots by appropriate maps and/or plans; and
- d) persons responsible for implementing the compensation measure.

The Farmland Bird and Skylark mitigation strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details with any approved details/mitigation maintained thereafter in accordance with the overall site restoration and aftercare period.

<u>Reason</u>: To allow the Essex County Council to discharge its duties under the NERC Act 2006, to make appropriate provision for conserving and enhancing the

natural environment t, in the interests of biodiversity and to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policy ENV1 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1 and DM27 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policy BAS C1, of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policy NE4 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

- 34. An aftercare scheme detailing the steps that are necessary to bring the land to the required standard for agricultural afteruse shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority no later than after completion of phase three. The submitted scheme shall accord with that suggested with the Planning Practice Guidance and:
  - a) provide an outline strategy for an aftercare period of five years. This shall broadly outline the steps to be carried out in the aftercare period and their timing within the overall programme including the aims and objective of management from an agricultural, landscape and ecological perspective; and
  - b) provide for a detailed annual programme to be submitted to the Waste Planning Authority not later than two months prior to the annual Aftercare meeting, which shall in addition to covering agricultural matters also provide commentary on landscape planting, ecological and hydrological features; and the WWI memorials.

Whilst the formal aftercare period for the site shall be five years, the outline strategy shall, as a minimum, seek to cover a period of 10 years in respect of the management of on-site and boundary landscaping and ecological and hydrological features. The outline strategy should, in respect of this, include details of any legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term management of the site will be secured by the developer with the management body responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that aims and objectives from a landscape and/or ecological perspective are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development delivers long term net benefit.

Unless the Waste Planning Authority approve in writing with the person or persons responsible for undertaking the aftercare steps that there shall be lesser steps or a different timing between steps, the aftercare shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted scheme.

<u>Reason</u>: To ensure the satisfactory restoration of the site, safeguard for the long term and to comply with in in accordance with the details submitted and deemed to comply with policy 10 of the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); policies ENV1, ENV3 and ENV4 of the Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); policies DM1, DM25, DM26, DM27 and DM28 of the Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); policies BAS C1, BAS C5, BAS C13 and BAS BE12 of the Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and policies GB11, CC2, CC4, NE4, NE5, HE1 and HE3 of the Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

35. There shall be no retailing or direct sales of soils and/or aggregates to the public from the site.

<u>Reason</u>: To ensure that there are no adverse impacts on the local amenity or highway network from the development not assessed as part of the application details and in context of policies contained within the Essex Minerals Local Plan (2014); Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

36. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and reenacting that Order with or without modification) no building, structure, fixed plant or machinery and/or gate, except as detailed in the development details hereby approved or otherwise approved pursuant to conditions, shall be erected, extended, installed or replaced on the site without the prior approval or express planning permission of the Waste Planning Authority.

<u>Reason</u>: To enable the planning authority to adequately control any future development on-site, assess potential accumulation and minimise potential impacts on the local area, landscape, amenity and environment in accordance with policies contained within the Essex Minerals Local Plan (2014); Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan (2017); Rochford District Council Core Strategy (2011); Rochford District Council Development Management Plan (2014); Basildon District Local Plan (Saved Policies) (2007); and Basildon Borough Revised Publication Local Plan 2014-2034 (2018).

# 6. Applications, Enforcement and Appeals Statistics

The Committee considered report DR/26/20, applications, enforcement and appeals statistics, as at the end of the previous month, by the Chief Planning Officer.

The Committee NOTED the report.

#### 7. Date of Next Meeting

The Committee noted that the next meeting was scheduled for 10.30 am on Friday 25 September 2020, to be held as an online meeting.

There being no further business, the meeting closed at 11:26am